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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company — KPSC

Kuwait
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Al Mal Investment Company = KPSC (the “Parent
Company”) and its subsidiaries, {the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter referred to in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of
our report, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial positon of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Group’s investment in Zone Advanced General Trading Company, an associate, is carried at KD2,957,674
on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the Group’s share of result of
KID5,707 is included in the Group’s loss for the year then ended, based on management accounts of the
associate. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment in Zone Advanced General Trading Company as at 31 December 2018, and the Group’s
share of result for the year then ended, as the last available audited financial statements for this associate were
for the year ended 31 December 2017. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments
to these amounts were necessary.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilites for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants TESBA
Code), and we have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred
a loss of KID3,125,196 for the year ended 31 December 2018 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by KID1,708,417. As stated in note 6, these events or conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC (continued)

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements which describes the legal dispute for
recovery of the refundable development expenses and the related provision using the guidelines of the Central
Bank of Kuwait. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation investment at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVIPL} include significant unquoted investments.
Due to their unique structure and terms, the valuation of these instruments is determined through the
application of valuation techniques that involve the exercise of management’s judgements and the use of
assumptions and estimates. Therefore, there are significant measurement uncertainties involved in valuations.
As a resuly, the valuations of these instruments was significant to our audit. We have, therefore, spent significant
audit efforts in assessing the appropriatencss of the valuatons and underlying assumptions. The Group’s
disclosures about its investments at FVIPL are included in Notes 12 and 23.2 to the consolidated financial
statements,

Qur audit procedures included agreeing carrying values of the unquoted investments to the Group’s valuations
prepared using valuation techniques, assessing and challenging the appropriatencss of estimates, assumptions
and valuation methodology and obtained supporting documentation and explanations to corroborate the
valuations.

Valuation of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties comprise of land and buildings in Kuwait, GCC and Middle East countries.
The total value of investment properties is significant to the Group’s consolidated financial statements and are
carried at fair value. Management determines the fair value of its investment properties on a periodic basis using
external appraisers to support the valuations.

Investment properties are valued using market comparison approach which is based on the latest sale prices of
properties within similar areas for certain investment properties, and income capitalization approach which is
based on estimates and assumptions such as rental values, occupancy rates, discount rates, financial stability of
tenants, market knowledge and historical transactions for certain other propertics. Given the size and
complexity of the valuaton of investment properties and that the valuations are highly dependent on estimates
and assumptions, we identified this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included, among others, reviewing the valuation reports of the external independent
appraisers and compared individually to the carrying value of the investment properties. We also considered
the objectivity, independence, expertise of the external independent valuators as well as evaluating the accuracy
of the data inputs used in their valuations. We further assessed the approptiateness of the disclosures
concerning investment properties in notes 15 and 23.3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the report of the Parent
Company’s board of directors, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the shareholders of
Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC (continued)

Other information (continued)
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other accompanying information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have obtained
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concetn, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process,

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 2 material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skeptcism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are approprate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting esumates
and related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

*  Obuin sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of
directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that
we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of
2016 and its Executive Regulations, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles
of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, no violations of the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016 and its Executive Regulatons, or of the Parent
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the
year ended 31 December 2018 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the
Parent Company.

We further report that, during the course of our audit and to the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not
become aware of any material violations of the provisions of Law 7 of 2010, as amended, relating to the Capital
Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2018 that might have had a
material effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any material violations of
the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the
organisation of the banking business, and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2018 that
might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

-

AN

Anwar Y. Al-Qatami, F.C.C.A.
(Licence No. 50-A)
of Grant Thornton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Kuwait
31 March 2019
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
MNote 2018 2017
KD KD
Income
Revenue from contracts with customers 207,595 213,166
Rental income 818,356 641,646
Other (losses)/gains on financial assets 8 (1,406,310) 17,319
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary - 111,489
Share of resuits of associates 14 {4,578) (186,212)
Loss on liquidation of an associate 14 (142,708) -
Change in fair value of investment properties 15 (292,424) (402,768)
Other income 9 216,076 595,598
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 5,893 (93,747)
(598,100) 896,491
Expenses and other charges
Staff costs {1,127,879) (1,211,770)
General, administrative and other expenses (740,756) (1,110,241)
Finance costs {197,092) (198,059)
Impairment of financial assels (305,432) (72,317)
Impairment of non-financial assets {106,520) -
Write off receivables and other assets {49,417) (83,861)
{2,527,096) (2,676,248)
Loss for the year {3,125,196) (1,779,757)
Attributable to :
Owners of the Parent Company (3,073,835) {1,621,612)
Non-controlling interests {51,361) (158,145)
(3,125,196) (1,779,7587)
Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Parent Company 10 (9.81) Fils (5.23) Fils

The notes set ont on pages 11 1o 53 fornr an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2018

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Loss for the year (3,125,196} (1,779,757)
Other comprehensive incomel{loss):
items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Reclassification of foreign currency iranslation reserve on liquidation of an
associate 283,540 -
Reclassification of foreign currency translation on liquidation of a subsidiary - (111,489)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations {50,843) 280,141
Available for sale investments:
- Net changes in fair value arising during the year - 372,914
- Transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss on disposal - 45,110
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates - (128,960)
Total other comprehensive income for the year 232,697 457,716
Total comprehensive loss for the year {2,892,499) (1,322,041}
Total comprehensive loss atiributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company {2,842,474) (1,169,670)
Non-controlling interests (50,025) {(152,371)
(2,892,499} (1,322,041}

The notes set ont on pages 11 to 53 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2018 2017
KD KD
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1 849,245 2,488,937
investments at fair value through profit or loss 12 4,262,226 1,488,323
Accounts receivable and other assets 13 3,718,794 3,874,517
Availabte for sale investments 3.9 - 4,668,087
Invesiment in bands 99,000 100,000
Financing receivables . 183,811
Invesiment in associates 14 3,482,172 4,948,756
Investment properties 15 11,991,474 12,185,134
Property and equipment 50,315 97,037
Total assets 24,453,223 30,034,602
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 16 6,520,579 9,007,574
Murabaha payables 17 3,118,103 3,202,976
Bonds 18 900,000 900,000
Employees' end of service indemnity 451,101 408,038
Total liabilities 10,989,783 13,518,588
Equity
Share capital 19 31,024,591 31,024,591
Foreign currency franslation reserve {1,837,185) (2,068,546)
Cumulative changes in fair value 31 - 420,197
Accumulated losses (18,362,384} (13,597,612}
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 10,825,022 15,778,630
Nen-controlling interests 2,638,418 737,384
Total equity 13,463,440 16,516,014
Total liabilities and equity 24,453,223 30,034,602

Ayman Ahmed Sheet
Vice Chairman

The notes set out on pages 11 to 53 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2018

Consolidated statement of cash flows

10

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2018 2017
KD KD
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss for the year {3,125,196) (1,779,757)
Adjustments:
Impairment loss on financial assets 305,432 72,317
Impairment of non-financial assets 106,520 -
Write-off receivables and other assels 48,417 83,861
Change in fair value of investment properties 292,424 402,768
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 2,642 4,400
Loss on disposal of available for sale investments - 98,722
Dividend income (118,141) (118,176)
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary . (111,489)
Share of results of associates 4,578 186,212
Loss on liquidation of an associate 142,708 -
Depreciation 81,305 34,432
Provision for employees' end of service benefits 111,066 134,903
interest income (15,515} (26,352)
Finance costs 197,092 198,059
{1,966,668) (820,100)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,894,184 52,151
Accounts receivable and other assets (335,703) 1,056,812
Financing receivables 69,389 (185,651)
Accounts payable and other liabilities {925,943) (1,104,030)
Cash used in operations (1,264,741) (1,000,818)
Employees' end of service benefits paid {68,003) {90,823)
Net cash used in operating activities (1,332,744) (1,091,641)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from salefredemption of available for sale investments - 225,530
Additions to available for sale investments - {365,281)
Additions to property and equipment (47,225} {2,560)
Additions fo investment properties {91,635} (77,254)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 10,000 10,000
Dividend received from associates - 8,385
Dividend income received 119,141 118,176
Interest income received 15,515 26,352
Net cash from/{used in) investing activities 5,796 (56,652)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of murabaha payables (115,829) (403,895)
Finance cosis paid (186,915) {198,926)
Net cash used in financing activities (312,744) (602,821)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents {1,639,692) (1,751,114)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,488,937 4,240,051
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1 849,245 2,488,937
Non-cash transactions:
Investment in associates {1,532,890) -
Accounts payable and other liabilities (1,532,890) -

The notes set out on pages 11 to 53 form an integral part of these consolidated finandial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Incorporation and activities

Al Mal Investment Company — KPSC, (“the Parent Company”), is a Kuwaiti Public Shareholding Company
established on 2 January 1980 under the Commercial Companies Law No. 15 of 1960 and amendments thereto.
The Parent Company is regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait and the Capital Market Authority as an
investment company and its shares are listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. The Parent Company and its
subsidiaries (listed in note 7) are together referred to as “the Group”.

The principal objectives of the Parent Company are as follows:

- Investment in various economic sectors through participating in establishing specialised companies or
purchasing securities or shares in those companies;

- Act as investment trustees and manage different investment portfolios for others; and

- Actas intermediary in borrowing operations in return for commission;

Further, the Parent Company has the right to participate and subscribe, in any way with other firms which
operate in the same field or those which would assist in achieving its objectives in KKuwait and abroad and to
purchase those firms or participate in their equity.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is Arabian Gulf Street, Ahmed Tower, Floor 22, PO
Box 26308, Safat 13124, State of Kuwait.

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company authorised these consolidated financial statements for issue on
31 March 2019. The general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these
consolidated financial statements after issuance.

2 Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and
Interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) of the
IASB, as modified for use by the Government of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by the
Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK"). The modification requires adoption of all IFRSs for such institutions except
for the IFRS 9 requirement for measurement of estimated credit losses (“ECL”) for credit facilities. The CBK
requires to measure the provision for credit losses at the higher of provision calculated under IFRS 9 in
accordance with the CBK guidelines, and the provision required by the prudential regulations of the CBK.

3 Changes in accounting policies

31 New and amended standards adopted by the Group
A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
which have been adopted by the Group. Information on these new standards is presented below:

Standard or Interpretation Effective for annnal periods beginning
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
IAS 40 Investment Property — Amendments 1 january 2018
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle 1 January 2018

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

31 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The IASB published IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (2014}, representing the completion of its project to replace
LAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. The new standard introduces extensive changes
to IAS 39’s guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces a new ‘expected
credit loss’ model for the impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also provides new guidance on the application
of hedge accounting,

The main areas of impact are as follows:
® the classification and measurement of the financial assets are based on the new criteria that considers
the assets’ contractual cash flows and the business model in which they are managed.

e an expected credit loss-based impairment is recognised on the trade receivables and investments in
debt-type assets currently classified as available for sale and held-to-maturity, unless classified as at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with the new critenia.

® itis no longer possible to measure equity investments at cost less impairment and all such investments
are instead measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are presented in profit or loss unless an
irrevocable designation is made to present them in other comprehensive income.

o if the fair value option continues to be elected for certain financial liabilities, fair value movements are
presented in other comprehensive income to the extent those changes relate to own credit risk.

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) and Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). The
standard eliminated IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.

Further, the gains and losses on subsequent measurement of debt type financial instruments measured at Fair
Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) are now recognised in equity and will be recycled to
profit or loss on derecognition or reclassification.

However, gains or losses on subsequent measurement of equity type financial assets measured at FVTOCI are
now recognised in equity and not recycled to profit or loss on derecognition. Dividend income on these assets
continues to be recognised in profit or loss.

Based on the analysis of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at 1 January 2018 and of the circumstances
that existed at that date, management of the Group have determined the impact of implementation of IFRS 9
on the consolidated financial statements as follows:

Classification and measurement:
All equity investments are to be measured at FVTPL.

Accounts receivable, investment in bonds and financing receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows
and are expected to give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. Management
analysed the contractual cash flow characteristics of those instruments and concluded that they meet the criteria
for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9. Therefore, reclassification for these instruments is not required.
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3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

3.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
The following table explain the original measurement categories under IAS 39 and the new measurement
categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s financial assets as at 1 January 2018.

IAS 39 IFRS 9
Carrying Carrying
Classification amount Classification amount
KD KD
Financial assets
Loans and
Cash and cash equivalents receivables 2,488,937 Amortised cost 2,488 937
Loans and
Accounts receivable and other assets receivables 2,696,305 Amortised cost 2,536,230
Loans and
Financing receivables receivables 183,811 Amortised cost 183,811
Investment in bonds Held to maturity 100,000 Amortised cost 100,000
Equity securities — quoted shares FVTPL 774,476 FVTPL 774 476
Mutual funds FVTPL 149,688 FVTPL 149,688
Equity securities — unquoted shares FVTPL 564,159 FVTPL 564,159
Available for
Equity securilies — unquoted shares sale 2,475,056 FVTPL 2,475,056
Available for
Private equity funds sale 552,976 FVTPL 552,976
Available for
Direct equity funds sale 661,396 FVTPL 681,396
Available for
Portfolios managed by others sale 958,659 FVTPL 958,659
Total financial assets 11,625,463 11,465,388

As a result of the above re-classification of available for sale investments to financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, the Group reclassified unrealised gain of KID420,197 from the cumulative changes in fair value
account to the accumulated losses.

There is no impact on the financial liabilities of the Group and will continue to be measured at amortised cost.

Impairment:

IFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses (ECL) on all of its financial assets measured at
amortised cost. ECL are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an
approximation to the asset’s original effective interest rate. Under IFRS 9, the Group measures ECL as follows:

* 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

¢ lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument

The Group has applied simplified approach to impairment for financial assets at amortised costs as required or
permitted under the standard. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

31 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
The Group has determined that the application of IFRS 9’s impairment requirements at 1 January 2018 results
in an additional impairment allowances as follows:

Provision as Provision as
at 31 Dec. at 1 Jan.
2017 Adjustments 2018
KD KD KD
Accounts receivable and other assets 16,040,318 160,075 16,200,393
16,040,318 160,075 16,200,393

Summary of impact on application of IFRS 9:

As allowed by the transition provisions of IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate comparative information
for prior periods with respect to classification and measurement, and including impairment requirements.
Differences in the carrying amounts of financial assets resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in
the accumulated losses and reserves as at 1 January 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for the
comparative petiods does not generally reflect the requirements of IFRS 9 but rather those of IAS 39.

Adjustments to the opening statement of financial position are detailed below:

31 Dec. Adjustments/ 1 Jan.
2017 reclassification 2018
KD KD KD

Assets

Accounts receivable and other assets 2,696,305 (160,075) 2,536,230
Equity

Cumulative changes in fair value 420,197 (420,197) -
Accumulated losses (13,597,612) 260,122 (13,337 490)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 replaced IAS 18 “Revenues”, IAS 11 “Construction Contract” and several revenues — related
Interpretations and provides a new control-based revenue recognition model using five-step approach to all
contracts with customers.

The five steps in the model are as follows:
® Identify the contract with the customer
s Identify the performance obligations in the contract
® Determine the transaction price
e  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts
e Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The standard includes important guidance, such as:

¢ Contracts involving the delivery of two or more goods or services — when to account separately for
the individual performance obligations in a multiple eclement arrangement, how to allocate the
transaction price, and when to combine contracts

* Timing — whether revenue is required to be recognized over time or at a single point in time
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3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

e Variable pricing and credit risk — addressing how to treat arrangements with variable or contingent
{e.g. performance-based) pricing, and introducing an overall constraint on revenue
Time value — when to adjust a contract price for a financing component
Specific issues, including -

o non-cash consideration and asset exchanges

contract costs

rights of return and other customer options

supplier repurchase options

warranties

principal versus agent

licensing

breakage

non-refundable upfront fees, and

consignment and bill-and-hold arrangements.

0 0O0O0D0QO0OO0OO0OO

The implementation of IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 did not have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 40 Investment Property - Amendments

The Amendments to IAS 40 clanfies that transfers to, or from, investment property are required when, and
only when, there is a change in use of property supported by evidence. The amendments also re-characterise
the list of circumstances appearing in paragraph 57(a)—(d) as a non-exhaustve list of examples of evidence that
a change in use has occurred. The Board has also clarified that a change in management’s intent, by itself, does
not provide sufficient evidence that a change in use has occurred. Evidence of a change in use must be
observable.

Adopton of these amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to LAS 28 - Clarifies that a qualifying entity s able to choose berween applying the equity method
or measuring an investment in an associate or joint venture at fair value through profit or loss, separately for
cach associate or joint venture at initial recognition of the associate or joint venture,

Adoption of these amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

The Interpretations looks at what exchange rate to use for translation when payments are made or reccived in
advance of the related asset, expense or income. A diversity was observed in practice in circumstances in which
an entity recognises a non-monetary liability arising from advance consideration. The diversity resulted from
the fact that some entities were recognising revenue using the spot exchange rate at the date of the receipt of
the advance consideration while others were using the spot exchange rate at the date that revenue was
recognized. IFRIC 22 addresses this issue by clarifying that the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income {(or part of
it} is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Adoption of these amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of this consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet effective, and have not
been adopted early by the Group.

Management antcipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policies for the first period beginning after the effectve date of the pronouncements. Information on new
standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements are provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods beginning
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an No stated date
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

[AS 28 - Amendments 1 January 2019

IFRS 3 - Amendments 1 January 2020

LAS 1 and IAS 8 - Amendments 1 January 2020

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets berween an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate
or joint venture, as follows:

® require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)

®  require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, 1.e. a
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or
joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution
of assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

TASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, early
implementation is allowed.

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 and three related Interpretations. Leases will be recorded on the statement of
financial position in the form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability.
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3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Management is yet to fully assess the impact of the Standard and therefore is unable to provide quantified
information. However, in order to determine the impact, management is in the process of:

¢ performing a full review of all agrecements to assess whether any additional contracts will now become
a lease under IFRS 16’s new definition

o deciding which transitional provision to adopt; either full retrospective application or partial
retrospective application (which means comparatives do not nced to be restated). The partial
application method also provides optional relief from reassessing whether contracts in place are, or
contain, a lease, as well as other reliefs. Deciding which of these practical expedients to adopt is
important as they are one-off choices

s assessing their current disclosures for finance and operating leases as these are likely to form the basis
of the amounts to be capitalised and become right-of-use asset

¢ determining which optional accounting simplifications apply to their lease portfolio and if they are
going to use these exemptions

e  asscssing the additional disclosures that will be required.

IAS 28 — Amendments

The amendments to IAS 28 clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Finansal Instruments to long-term interests in an
associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture but to which the
equity method is not applied.

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 3 — Amendmemts

The Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations are changes to Appendix A Defined terms, the application
guidance, and the illustrative examples of IFRS 3 only with respect to Definition of Business. The amendments:

o clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs;

® narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to
customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

* add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive process has been
acquired;

* remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or
processes and continuing to produce outputs; and

e add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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3 Changes in accounting policies {continued)
3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Amendments
The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 clarify the definiton of ‘material’ and align the definition used in the
Conceptual Framework and the standards.

Management does not anticipate that the application of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

4 Summary of significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies and measurements bases adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements are summarised below:

41 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include
the measurement of investments at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD).

The Group has elected to present the “statement of comprehensive income” in two statements: the “statement
of profit or loss” and a “statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”.

4.2 Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries

are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group and they are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 31 December. The details of the significant subsidiaries are set out in
Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales
are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective.
Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the date the Group gains control, or until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary,
as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of
subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective
ownership interests. Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results
in a deficit balance.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill} and liabilities of the subsidiary

Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity
Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received

Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained
Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income
to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate as would be required if the Group has directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

4.3 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquirec is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition.
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be asset or
liability will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as change to other
comprehensives income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured
until it is finally settled within other comprehensive income.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the
sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-
date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated
above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)

4.4 Investment in associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither
subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share
in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment in
associates.

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment.

The share of results of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This
is the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling
interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the Group is not more than three months. Adjustments
are made for the cffects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting policies conform to those used by the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the ‘share of results of an associate’ in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining
investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.5 Segment reporting

The Group has three operating segments: Investment, real estate and finance segments. In identifying these
operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing its main products
and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different approaches and
other resources.

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its financial
statements. In addition, assets or habilities which are not directly attributable to the business activities of any
operating segment are not allocated to a segment.

4.6 Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with
a customet and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it
wransfers service to a customer.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

4.6 Revenue recognition (continued)
The Group follows a 5-step process:
1. Idenufying the contract with a customer
Identifying the performance obligations
Determining the transaction price
Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

Ll IR

Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

The total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on
their relatve stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on
behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in tme or over ume, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised services to its customers.

The Group recognises contract liabilides for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance
obligations and reports these amounts, if any, as other liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly,
if the Group satsfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the Group recognises either
a contract asset or a receivable, if any, in its statement of financial position, depending on whether something
other than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due.

4.6.1 Asset management services

Asset management fees is variable consideration based on the net assets value of portfolios at pre-agreed rates
in accordance with the respective contracts with customers for the supervision and managing portfolios’ assets,
safe custody of the assets and conducting buy/sell transactions for the customers.

4.6.2 Fees from advisory services

Fees arising for rendering specific advisory services, brokerage services, equity and debt placement transactions
for a third party or arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party
are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction.

4.7 Rental income
Rental income is recognised on straight line basis over the term of lease. The Group earns rental income from
operating leases of its investment properties.

4.8 Interest income on financial assets
Interest income are recognised using effective interest method.

4.9 Dividend income
Dividend income, other than those from investments in associates, are recognised at the time the right to
receive payment is established.

410  Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of their origin.
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411  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly artributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

412  Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The Group
depreciates its property and equipment using the straight-line method at rates sufficient to write off the assets
over their estimated useful economic lives.

4.13  Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted for
using the fair value model.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently, investment
properties are re-measured ar fair value on an individual basis based on valuations by independent real estate
valuers and are included in the consolidated statement of financial position. Changes in fair value are taken to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

Investment properties are de-recognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permancntly withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any
gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of
change in use.

Gain or loss from sale of investment properties is recognised on completion of sale contract and after
transferring the risk and rewards associated with the real estate to the purchaser and the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured.

4.14 Impairment testing of non-financial assets

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from the asset or each cash-generating unit
and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used
for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as
necessary to exclude the effect of future reorganisations and assets enhancements. Discount factors are
determined individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of
respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that
cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.
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4 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
4,15  Financial instruments

4.15.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilies are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initiaily at fair value adjusted by transactions costs,
except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised when:

® rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;
¢ the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement;
and either
{a) the Group has transferred substandally all the risks and rewards of the asset or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial Liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
ot the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.15.2 Classification of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon
initial recognition:

s financial assets at amortised cost

e financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

The classification is determined by both:
¢ the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
e the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

4.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

a} Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

e they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its
contractual cash flows

o the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding
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415  Financial instruments (continued)
4.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

a) Financial assets at amonrtised cost (continued)
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less
provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following:

- Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

- Aconnts receivable and other assels
Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for any uncollectible amounts. Bad
debts are written off as incurred.

Receivables which are not categorised under any of the above are classified as “other assets”.

b) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVT'OCI are categorised at
fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. The category also
contains investments in equity shares.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market
transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists.

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL comprise investment in equity shares and funds.

4.15.4 Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets except for those at FVTPL and equity investments at FVTOCI are subject to review for
impairment at least at cach reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each
category of financial assets, which are described below.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial asset.

The measurement of expected credit losses is a funcion of the probability of default, loss given default (i.c. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward - looking information as described
abave. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.
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415  Financial instruments

4.15.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable and other assets. The expected credit losses
on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
1s expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for all financial
assets with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

4.15.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial Liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable and other liabilities.

The subsequent measurement of financial Habilides depends on their classification as follows:

o Financial Iiabilities at amortised cost

These are stated using effective interest rate method. Accounts payable and other liabilities are classified as
financial liabilities other than at FVTPL.

o Accounts payables and other financial liabilities

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by
the supplier or not, and classified as trade payables. Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL which are not
categorised under any of the above are classified as “accounts payable and other liabilities”

®  Murababa payables

Murabaha payables represent amounts payable on a deferred settlement basis for assets purchased under
murabaha arrangements. Murabaha payables are stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of deferred
finance cost. Deferred finance cost is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking into account the
borrowing rate attributable and the balance outstanding,

e Bonds issued

Bonds are carried on the consolidated statement of financial position at their principal amount, net of directly
related costs of issuing the bonds to the extent that such costs have not been amortised. These costs are
amortised through the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the life of the bonds using the effective
interest rate method.

All interest-related charges are included within finance costs or interest income.
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416  Amortised cost of financial instruments

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes
into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate.

417  Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial asscts and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and setde the liabilities simultaneously.

418  Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation
models.

419  Equity, reserves and dividend payments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of current and prior period profits in accordance with
the requirements of the commercial companies’ law and the Parent Company’s articles of association.

Other components of equity include the following:

» foreign currency translation reserve — comprises foreign currency translation differences arising from the
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KD

Accumulated losses include all current and prior period losses. All transactions with owners of the parent are
recorded separately within equity.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have
been approved in a general meeting,

4.20  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can
be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncerrainties associated with the
present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are
discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.
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420  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities (contiuned)
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

Conungent liabilices are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

4.21  Foreign currency translation

4.21.1 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in currency Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the
functional currency of the Parent Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

4.21.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items
denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary
items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates at
the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. Translation difference on non-monetary asset
classified as, “fair value through profit or loss” is reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

4.21.3 Foreign operations

In the Group’s consolidated financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a
functional currency other than the KD are translated into KID upon consolidation. The functional currency of
the entities in the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilines have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been
translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to
other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to
profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

422  End of service indemnity

The parent and its local subsidiaries provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these
benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum
service period in accordance with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these
benefits are accrued over the period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount
payable to each employce as a result of termination on the reporting date.

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, in addition to the end of service benefits, the Group makes
contributions to the Public Institunon for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries.
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4.23  Taxation

4.23.1 National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of
2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit of the Group. As per law, allowable deductions include, share of profits of listed
associates and cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected to NLST.

4.23.2 Kuwair Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

‘The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group in accordance with the modified
calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that income from Kuwain
shareholding associates and subsidiaries, and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for
the year when determining the contribution.

4.23.3 Zakar
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Parent Company has no liability towards NLST, KFAS
and Zakat due to tax losses incurred. Under the NLST and Zakat regulations no carry forward of losses to the
future years nor any carry back to prior years 1s permitted.

4.24  Fiduciary assets
Assets held in a trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, they are not
included in these consolidated financial statements.

5 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

5.1.  Significant management judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

5.1.1 Business model assessment

The Group classifies financial assets after performing the business model test (please see accounting policy for
financial instruments sections in note 4.15). This test includes judgement reflectng all relevant evidence
including how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured and the risks that
affect the performance of the assets. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the
business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets,

5.1.2 Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
The determination of the whether or not performance obligation criterial set out in IFRS 15 relating to transfer
of control of goods to customers has been satisfied requires significant judgement.
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S Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.1 Significant management judgments (continued)

5.1.3  Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
The determination of the fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilides as a result of business
combination requires significant judgement.

5.1.4  Control assessment

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities
and ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.

5.1.5 Classification of real estate

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, or investment
property. Such judgement at acquisition determines whether these properties are subsequently measured at cost
or net realisable value whichever is lower or fair value.

‘The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

5.2 Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substandally
different.

5.2.1 Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss
given default is an estimate of the loss anising in case of default by customer. Probability of default is an estimate
of the likelihood of default in the future. The Group based these estimates using reasonable and supportable
forward looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic
drivers and how these dnvers will affect each other.

An estimate of the collectible amount of accounts receivable is made when collection of the full amount is no
longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an individual basis.
Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively and a provision
applied according to the length of tme past due, based on historical recovery rates.

5.2.2 [Fair value of financial instruments

Management apply valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active market
quotes are not available. This requires management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market
inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data is
not observable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary
from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.
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5.2 Estimation uncertainty {(continued)

5.2.3 Revaluation of investment property

The Group carries its investment property at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine
fair values and the valuers have used valuation techniques to arrive at these fair values. These estimated fair
values of investment property may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length
transaction at the reporting date.

5.2.4 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associated companies, at each reporting date based on
existence of any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognizes the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.2.5 Useful lives of depreciable assets
Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change
the utlity of certain software and equipment.

6 Fundamental accounting concept

The Group incurred loss of KID3,125,196 for the year ended 31 December 2018, and as of that date, the
Group’s total current assets amounted KID8,830,265 and its total current liabilities amounted to KID10,538,682
(total current lizbilities exceeded total current assets by KID1,708,417). However, the Group’s total assets
exceeded its total liabilities by KD13,463,440. Current liabilites include KI23,053,466 (2017: KID4,667,695) due
to related parties (note 16) and KID2,667,049 (2017: KDD2,654,838) related to the project referred to in note
16.1. Further, the Parent Company’s management is also evaluating various strategies to improve the operating
performance, financial position and adequacy of financial resources of the Group to enable to meet its future
obligations on duc dates. Therefore, the Parent Company’s management believes the Group has adequate
resources to meet its short-term obligations and accordingly, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under a going concern basis.

Had the going concern basis not been used, adjustments would be made relating to the recoverability of
recorded asset amounts or to the amount of liabilities to reflect the fact that the Group may be required to
realize its assets and extinguish its liabilities other than in the normal course of business, at amounts different
from those stated in these consolidated financial statements,
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7 Subsidiary companies
7.1 Details of the Group’s consolidated subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
Country of
registration Proportion of
& place of ownership interest
Name of the subsidiary business held by the Group Nature of business
2018 2017
Tarasul Telecom Co. K.S.C (Closed) Kuwait 96.69% 96.69% Communicalion services
Diyar Al-Kuwait Real Estate Company — KSC Kuwait 60.25% 60.25% Real estate development
(Closed)
Al Mat International for Project Management Kuwait 80% B0% Real estate project
Co.- WLL management
Kuwait 97.5%* 97.5%" Real estate project
Al Mal Qatari Holding Company - KSC (Closed) * management
Saudi Al Mal Co. - WLL Kingdom of 100% 100% Investment activities
Saudi Arabia
Quick Facilities Management - LLC United Arab 100% 100% Facilities management
Emirates services
Takharoj Financial and Administrative Consulting Kuwait 99% 99% Consulting services
Co. - KSC (Closed)
First Al-Mal Real Estate — KSC (Closed) Kuwait 90.7% 90.7% Real estate development

(Through Al-Mal Qataria Holding Company and
Diyar Al-Kuwait Real Estate Company)

* The remaining 2.5% of the above subsidiary is held by Parent Company through letter of assignments. Certain
other subsidiaries shares are held through letter of assignments in favour of the Parent Company.

7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests
The Group includes one subsidiary, with material non-controlling interests (NCI):

Proportion of
ownership interests

and voting rights held Loss allocated
Name by the NCI to NCI Accumulated NCI
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec, 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
KD KD KD KD

Diyar Al-Kuwait Real Estate

Company KSC (Closed) 39.75% 39.75% {49,850} (155,476) 2,623,135 722,590
Individually immaterial subsidiaries

with non-controlling inferests {1,511) (2,669) 13,283 14,794

(51,361)  (158,145) 2,638,418 737,384




Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries 32
Cansolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2018

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

7 Subsidiary companies (continued)

7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)
Summarised financial information for the above subsidiary, before intragroup eliminations, is set out below:

7.21  Diyar Al-Kuwait Real Estate Company - KSCC

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2018 2017

KD KD
Non-current assets 12,322,390 12,931,028
Current assets 841,994 1,718,648
Total assets 13,164,384 14,649,674
Non-current liabilities 114,551 2,916,261
Current fliabilities 3,551,562 926,635
Total liabilities 3,666,113 3,842,896
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 5,637,511 6,441,024
Non-controlling interest 3,860,760 4,365,754

During the year, the Group reallocated an amount of KID1,951,059 to non-controlling interests of the subsidiary
which represents accumulated impact of the non-controlling interests share of profit in previous years. This
mainly arose from the full elimination of intergroup losses that the subsidiary recognised on waiving off an
amount due from another partially owned subsidiary of the Group.

Yearended Year ended

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Loss for the year atiributable {o the shareholders of the Parent Company {112,729} (268,837)
Loss for the year attributable to NCI {49,850} (155,476)
Loss for the year {162,579} (424,113)
Other comprehensive income for the year attributable to the shareholders
of the Parent Company 1,178 22,758
Cther comprehensive income for the year attributable to NCI 1,379 13,755
Total other comprehensive income for the year 2,557 36,513
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the shareholders of
the Parent Company (111,551) (245,879)
Total comprehensive loss for the year attribuiable to NCI (48,471) (141,721)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (160,022) (387,600)

Year ended Year ended

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Net cash flow from operating aclivities 299,000 704,028
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (84,397) 74,466
Net cash flow used in financing activities {300,000) (600,000)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow {85,397) 178,494
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8 Other (losses)/gains on financial assets
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Change in fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss (1,331,134} 62,416
(Loss)/gain on disposal of investments at fair value through profit or loss {75,176) 53,625
Loss on disposal of available for sale investments - (98,722)
(1,406,310) 17,319
9 Other income
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Dividend income (9.1} 118,141 118,176
Interest on financial assets held at amortised cost 15,515 26,352
Gain on settlement of accounts payable - 448,458
Reversal of provision no longer required 78,590 -
Others 2,830 2612
216,076 595,598
21 Dividend incore
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Dividend income from invesiments at FVTPL 119,141 34,265
Dividend income from available for sale invesiments - 83,911
119,141 118,176

10 Basic and diluted loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Parent Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
Loss for the year altributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD) (3,073,835) (1,621,612)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 310,245,910 310,245,910
Basic and diluted loss per share (Fils) (9.91) {5.23)




Al Mal Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries 34
Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2018

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

11 Cash and cash equivalents

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD Kb
Cash and bank balances 839,344 2,463,277
Cash balances with portfolio managers 9,01 25,660
Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated statement of cash flow 849,245 2,488,937
12 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Quoted shares 810,729 774,476
Mutual funds 1,379,678 149,688
Invesiments in portfolios managed by others 640,654 -
Unquoted shares 1,431,165 564,159
4,262,226 1,488,323

During the year, the Group sold certain investments for a total consideration of KID794,434 (2017: KD522,191)

realising a net loss of KID75,176 (2017: net gain of KID53,625).

As at 1 January 2018, as a result of adoption of IFRS (9) the Group reclassified available for sale investments
to investments at fair value through profit or loss amounting to KID4,668,087 (Note 3.1).

13 Accounts receivable and other assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Financial assets:
Refundable development expenses (13.1) 17,808,246 17,853,209
Advance payments for purchase of financial assets 226,969 213,305
Due from related pariies (note 22) 431,427 282,842
Trade receivables 224,570 239,155
Accrued income & dividend receivables 153,645 95,184
Refundable deposits 11,608 11,808
Others 195,202 41,320
19,051,667 18,736,623
Less: provision for doubtfut debts (13.2) (16,311,118) (16,040,318)
2,740,549 2,696,305
Non-financial assets:
Advance payments for purchase non-financial assets 1,023,170 1,107,496
Prepaid expenses 52,208 54,624
Others 9,387 16,092
1,084,765 1,178,212
Less: Provision for doubtful debts {106,520) -
978,245 1,178,212
3,718,794 3,874,517
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13.1  Refundable development expenses
Refundable development expenses represent development cost incurred for an economic city in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia jointly with the Saudi authorities. The Parent Company was the main developer for this project.

During 2014, Knowledge Economic City (KEC) - Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (the relevant Saudi authority),
announced through different media channels the termination of Al-Mal Investment’s Contract (Developer of
Prince Faisal Abdul Aziz Bin Musaed economic city — located in Hael) and assigning the development to
Governmental parties. Management of the Parent Company contacted KEC to inquire about this action, since
based on the development contract, all contractual and formal procedures must be completed to rectify any
breach (if any), before terminating the development contract.

Further, during 2016, the Group filed a legal case against Knowledge Economic City to recover the refundable
development expenses. The legal case was filed under the administrative court which is yet to pronounce its
decision.

Upon consultation with the legal consultants and review of the development contract which stipulates that the
total expenses incurred is re-imbursable, the Parent Company’s management is confident that the Parent
Company has the right to recover the above refundable development expenses in full.

However, management of the Parent Company decided to apply the guidelines of the Central Bank of Kuwait
and accordingly, the Parent Company recgonised a provision up to the extent of the refundable development
expenses less certain direct dues related to the project amounting to KID1,767,928 as at 31 December 2018
(included under accounts payable and other liabilities as of the reporting date) which KEC requested the Group
to repay this amount through the same legal case. Accordingly, an amount of KID16,040,318 was provided in
previous years.

The outcome of the above litigation is dependent on the future outcome of continuing legal and regulatory
processes and consequently any provisions made to date are subject to inherent uncertainty.

13.2  Provision for expected credit loss
The movement in the provision is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Balance as at the beginning of the year 16,040,318 15,968,001
Arising on adoption of IFRS 9 160,075 -
Impairment loss on financial assets 190,010 72,317
Write-offs (79,285) -
16,311,118 16,040,318

The above provision includes a provision of KID16,040,318 related to refundable development expenses {note
13.1).
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14 Investment in associates
The movement of investment in associates during the year is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 4,948,756 5,330,347
Share of results (4,578) (186,212)
Group's share of associates’ change in olher comprehensive income - (128,960)
Dividend received - (8,385)
Liquidation of an associate (14.3) (1,411,988) -
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations {50,018) (58,034)
Balance at 31 December 3,482,172 4,948,756

14.1  Details of the Group's associates at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Ceountry of
registration Nature of business
31 Dec.
2018

Zone Advanced General Trading Co. = WLL Kuwait General trading 40%

British Virgin
Falcon Aviation Group Limited Islands Air cargo -
Ikaros Real Estate Company — WLL Kuwait Real estate 25%
MAC SA, Stockbrokerage Company Tunisia Brokerage 48%
United insurance Company Syria Insurance 18%

Percentage ownership

31 Dec.
2017

40%

20%
25%
48%
18%

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material associates are set out below. The
summarised financial information below represents the amounts presented in the financial statements of the
associates (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between

the Group and the associates.

Zone Advanced General Trading Co. — WLL

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Non-current assets 3,188,694 3,188,694
Current assets 4,541,306 4,521,531
Current liabilities (335,814) {330,307)
Equity 7,394,186 7,379,918
Income/(loss) for the year 14,268 (669,925)
Other comprehensive income/{loss) for the year - -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 14,268 (669,925)
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14 Investment in associates (continued)

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the investment in
Zone Advanced General Trading Co. — WILL 15 set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the Group 7,394,186 7,379,918
Praportion of the Group's ownership interest in the associate 40% 40%
Carrying value of the investment 2,957,674 2,951,967

Zone Advanced General Trading Co. - WLL is an unquoted associate and it mainly holds 50% ownership in a
company which is a telecom & technology provider, incorporated in British Virgin Islands and operating in
Iraq. The last available audited financial statements of the assodiate is for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The above numbers presented for the year ended 31 December 2018 are based on management accounts of
Zone Advanced General Trading Company as of 30 September 2018,

14.2  Agerepate information of associates that are not individually material to the Group:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
The Group's share of (loss)/profit for the year (10,285) 81,758
The Group's share of total comprehensive loss for the year - (62,473)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s interest in these associates 524,498 1,996,789

14.3  Liguidation of an associate

During the year, the Group’s associate, Falcon Aviation Group limited, was liquidated. As a result a net loss
of KD142,708 was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Details are as follows:

KD
Consideration * 1,552,820
Less: carrying value of associate at the date of disposal (1,411,988)
140,832
Realisation of foreign currency translation reserve on liquidation {283,540)
Loss on liquidation of an associate {142,708)
* The consideration represents waiver of net amount due to the associate of KID1,552,820.
15 Investment properties
The movement for investment properties is as follows:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Balance as of 1 January 12,185,134 12,494,394
Additions during the year 91,635 77,254
Changes in fair value (292,424) (402,768)
Foreign currency translation adjustment arising on consalidation 7,126 16,254
Balance as of 31 December 11,991,471 12,185,134
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15 Investment properties (continued)

15.1 Investment properties of KID6,940,000 (2017: KD7,250,000) of a subsidiary are pledged against
murabaha payables of the same subsidiary.

15.2  Investment properties include a foreign investment property of KID1,361,940 (2017: KD1,075,746) of
a foreign subsidiary held based on a registered letter of assignment provided by the original owners of
the property.

15.3  The details of fair valuadon of investment properties are disclosed in note 23.3.

15.4 The above properties are located in GCC and other Middle Eastern countries.

16 Accounts payable and other liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Trade payables and payables fo contractars (note 16.1) 3,305,999 3,429,545
Due to related parties {note 22) 3,053,466 4,667,695
Accrued expenses 75,880 108,447
Accrued finance costs 30,019 60,465
Fiduciary accounts payable - 437,126
Provision for legal case - 270,000
Other liabilities 55,215 34,296
6,520,578 9,007,574

16.1  Trade payables and due to contractors include KD2,667,049 (31 December 2017: KID2,654,838)
related to the project which is referred to in note 13.1, Management does not expect this liability to be
paid undl the Group is able to recover its dues from the project.

17 Murabaha payables

During the year, the Group restructured its murabaha payables to be paid in one bullet payment of
KD3,179,000 {representing the principal and the related profit) on 30 April 2019.

Investment properties of a subsidiary are pledged against these murabaha payables (note 15).

The effective cost rate of the murabaha payables is 6.00% (2017: 5.75%).

18 Bonds

During previous years, the Group reached settlement agreements with bondholdess for outstanding bonds
amounting to KID11,088,000. Consequent to these agreements, a foreign subsidiary of the Group purchased
approximately 92.5% of the bonds issued.

The bondholders owning the remaining bonds with a carrying value of KID900,000 filed a legal case against the
Parent Company to recover the full face value of the bond. However, the Group’s management is confident
that the legal case has no basis and that the case will be decided in favour of the Parent Company.

On 10 November 2017, the bondholders agreed to extend the due date of the bonds issued to 18 November
2019 and to reduce the interest on fixed interest bearing bonds to 0.5% fixed interest rate and floating bonds
to bear floating interest rate at maximum 0.5% per annum.
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18 Bonds (continued)

During 2017, the Parent Company lost a court case against an old bondholder of KID900,000 who had agreed
to the settlement agreement earlier but later refused to take ownership of the shares offered in return of the
debt. The verdict was issued by the court of appeal on 13 July 2017 and it granted the bondholder the right to
the price used for debt to equity swap amounting to KID270,000 for which the Group paid during the period.
The Parent Company filed another legal case against the same old bondholder, and the 2,700,000 shares
previously issued to this bondholder (with a par value of KID270,000) are currently held with a custodian until
the legal dispute is resolved.

19 Share capital
The authorized, issued and fully paid share capital is as follows,

31 Dec 2018 31 December 2017
Authorised Paid-up in Authorised Paid-up in
Cash Cash
Shares of 100 Fils each 310,245,910 310,245,910 310,245,910 310,245,910

All shares are in cash.

The Parent Company’s shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 18 July 2017 approved the
board of directors’ proposal to set-off accumulated losses of KID35,929,760 against the share capital of the
Parent Company, which was approved by the relevant authorities and recorded in the commercial register of
the Ministry of Commerce on 8 August 2017,

20 Reserves

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s articles of association, 10% of the profit
attributable to sharcholders of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat provision, NLST
provision and directors’ remuneration is to be transferred to statutory reserve. No transfer is required in a year
when losses are made or where cumulative losses exist. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such
annual transfer when the reserve equals or exceeds 50% of the paid-up share capital.

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of
5% of paid-up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a
dividend of that amount.

Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Parent Company’s articles of association, 10% of the profit attributable to shareholders
of the Parent Company before contribution to KFAS, Zakat provision, NLST provision and directors’
remuneration is to be transferred to voluntary reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such
transfers by a resolution of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors. There are no restrictions on distribution
of voluntary reserve. No transfer is required in a year when losses are made or when cumulative losses exist.

21 Segmental information

The Group activities are concentrated in three main segments: real estate, investment and financing. The
segments’ results are reported to senior management in the Group. In addition, the segments results, assets and
liabilities are reported based on the geographic locations in which the Group operates.
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21 Segmental information (continued)
The following is the segments information, which conforms with the internal reporting presented to

management:
31 Dec. 2018
Real estate Investments Financing Unallocated Total
KD KD KD KD KD
Total income 525,932 {1,257,650) 15,515 118,143 (598,100)
Expenses and other charges (643,595) (1,308,982) (12,744) {561,775) {2,527,096)
(Loss)/profit for the year (117,663) {2,566,672) 2,1M (443,632) {3,125,196)
Assets 11,991,471 11,706,019 - 755,733 24,453,223
Liabilities 3,118,103 5,862,407 930,020 1,079,253 10,989,783
Net assels 8,873,368 5,843,612 (930,020) {323,520) 13,463,440
Interest income 15,515
Finance cosis 197,092
Impairment of financial assets 305,432
Impairment of non-financial assets 106,520
Write off receivables and other
assets 49,417
31 Dec. 2017 _
Real estate Investments Financing Unallocated Total
KD KD KD KD KD

Total income 238,878 241,297 26,352 389,964 896,491
Expenses and other charges (649,845) (1,807,764) {2,821) (215,818B) (2,676,248)
(Loss)profit for the year (410,987) (1,566,467) 23,531 174,146 (1,779,757)
Assets 13,838,266 15,774,725 183,811 237,800 30,034,602
Liabilities 3,842,733 4,004,712 960,465 4,710,678 13,518,588
Net assets 9,995,533 11,770,013 (776,654) (4,472,878) 16,516,014
Interest income 26,352
Finance costs (198,059)
impairment of financial assets 72,317

Write off receivables and other
assets

83,861
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21 Segmental information (continued)
The geographical analysis is as follows:

Domestic International Total
KD KD KD

31 December 2018

Total loss (548,760) {49,340) (598,100)
Loss for the year {2,486,331) (638,865) (3,125,196)
Total assets 15,961,527 8,491,696 24,453,223
Total liabilities 8,316,956 2,672,827 10,969,783
Net assels 7,644,571 5,818,869 13,463,440
31 December 2017

Total income 416,208 480,283 896,491
Loss for the year (2,079,580) 299,823 (1,779,757)
Total assets 19,934,824 10,099,778 30,034,602
Total liabilities 10,861,477 2,657,111 13,518,588
Net assels 9,073,347 7,442 667 16,516,014

22 Related party transactions

Related parties represent associates, directors and key management personnel of the Group, and other related
parties such as major shareholders and companies in which directors and key management personnel of the Group
are prncipal owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control.

Significant transactions and balances with related parties included in the consolidated financial statemnents are
as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Balances in the consolidated statement of financial position:
Due from related parties (note 13) 431,427 282,842
Due to related parties (note 16)* 3,053,466 4,667,695

* Due to related parties includes interest free advances totalling KID2,750,000 (31 December 2017:
KiD4,282,890) with no specific repayment terms and management does not anticipate repayment during the
next twelve months.

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Transactions included in the consclidated statement of profit or loss:
Management fees and other income 135,821 582,586
Key management compensation:
Short term benefits 246,719 414,708
Employees' end of service indemnity 17,515 60,520

Pricing policies and the terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management.

Transactons with related parties are subject to approval of the shareholders at the general assembly meeting.
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23 Fair value measurement

23.1  Fair value hiecarchy
Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position are
grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels arc defined based on the observability of
significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

e Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or habilities;

e Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (1.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.c. derived from prices); and

® Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

23.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position are categorized as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
Financial assets: KD KD
At amortised cost:
« Cash and cash equivalents 849,245 2,488,937
¢ Accounts receivable and other assets 2,740,549 2,696,305
= Financing receivables - 183,811
e Investment in bonds 99,000 -
3,688,794 5,369,053
At Fair value
¢ Investments at fair value through profit or loss 4,262,226 1,488,323
4,262,226 1,488,323
Held to maturity:
« |nvestment in bonds - 100,000
- 100,000
Available for sale investments:
e Af fair value - 3,736,858
» Al cost/cost less impairment - 931,229
. 4,668,087
Total financial assets 7,951,020 11,625,463
Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost;
*  Accounts payable and other liabilities 6,520,579 9,007,574
¢ Murabaha payables 3,118,103 3,202,978
+« Bonds 906,000 900,000

Total financial liabilities 10,538,682 13,110,550
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23  Fair value measurement (continued)

23.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)
The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant
input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the statement of consolidated
financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Note KD KD KD KD
31 December 2018
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss
- Quoted shares a 810,729 - - 810,729
- Unqguoted shares c
o Local c - - 860,768 860,768
o Foreign ¢ - - 570,397 570,397
- Funds b
o Mutual funds b - 170,188 - 470,189
o Private equity funds d - - 614,603 614,603
o Direct equity funds d - - 594,886 594,886
- Portfolios managed by others
o Foreign quoted € 156,098 - - 156,098
o Foreign unquoted e - - 484,556 484,556
966,827 170,189 3,125,210 4,262,226
31 December 2017
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss
- Quoted shares a 774,476 - - 774,476
- Mutual funds b - 149,688 - 149,688
- Unquoted shares c - - 564,159 564,159
Available for sale investments:
- Investment in unquoted shares
o Local c - - 2,137,160 2,137,160
o Foreign c - - 324,789 324,789
- Private equity funds d - - 300,392 300,392
- Direct equity funds d - - 249,229 249,225
- Portiolios managed by others
o Foreign quoted e 201,701 - - 201,701
o Foreign unquoted e = - 523,587 523,587
976,177 149,688 4,099,316 5,225,181

There have been no significant transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the reporting period.

Measurement at fair value

The Group’s finance team petforms valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including
Level 3 fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where required.
Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of
maximising the use of market-based information.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value, which are unchanged
compared to the previous reporting period, are as follows:
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23 Fair value measurement (continued)
23.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

a) Quoted shares
All quoted equity securities are publicly traded in stock exchanges. Fair values have been determined by
reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

b) Mutual funds
The underlying investments of these funds comprise of quoted securities and the fair value of the investment
as of the reporting date is determined based on net asset values reported by the fund manager.

¢) Unquoted shares

These represent holdings in local and foreign unlisted securities which are measured at fair value. Fair value 1s
estimated based on the net asset value reported in the latest available financial information, discounted cash
flow model or other valuaton technique which includes some assumptions that are not supportable by
observable market prices or rates.

d) Private and direct equity funds

The underlying investments in these private and direct equity funds mainly represent local and foreign quoted
and unquoted securities. Information for these investments is limited to periodic financial reports provided by
the investment managers. These investments are carried at net asset values reported by the investment
managers. Due to the nature of these investments, the net asset values reported by the investment managers
represent the best estimate of fair values available for these investments.

¢) Portfolios managed by others
The underlying investments in managed portfolios represent quoted and unquoted securities. They are valued
based on latest fund manager’s reports.

The following table provides information about the sensitivity of the fair values measurement to changes in the
most significant unobservable inputs:

Financial asset = Valuation Range
technique Significant {weighted Sensitivity of the fair value
unobservable input average) measurement to the input
Unquoted shares NAV Net asset value reported N/A Higher the Net asset value,
multiples higher the fair value
Discount for lack of 20% - 80% Higher the discount rate, lower
marketability and the value
Company specific risks
Private equity NAV reported  Fair market value/carrying N/A Higher the FMV/CV of the
and direct by investment value of the underlying assels, higher the value
equity funds manager assels
Other managed  NAV reported Fair market value/carrying NfA Higher the FMV/CV of the
portfolios by investment value of the underlying assets, higher the value
manager assels

The impact on profit or loss and other comprehensive income would be immaterial if the relevant risk variable
used to fair value the level 3 investments were changed by 5%.

Discount for lack of marketability & company specific risks represents the amounts that the Group has
determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments.
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23 Fair value measurement {(continued)
23.2  Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

Level 3 Fair value measurements

The Group measurement of financial assets and liabilities classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs
that are not based on observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from
beginning to ending balances as follows:

2018 2017
KD KD

As at 1 January 4,098,316 3,868,747
Additions during the year 82,820 50,488
Change in fair value {1,333,812) 439,177
Nel disposal/redemption {654,343) {259,096)
Movement between level 3 and carried at cost 931,229 -
As at 31 December 3,125,210 4,099,316
Total amount included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for unrealised

gain on level 3 instruments under investments at fair value through profit or loss (1,424,065) 45,824

23.3  Fair value measurement of non-financial assets

The Group also measures non-financial assets such as investment properties at fair value at each annual
reporting date. The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at
fair value on a recurring basis at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD

31 December 2018

Investment properly

- Buildings in Kuwait - - 8,640,000 8,640,000
- Building in UAE - 277,822 - 277,822
- Building in Bahrain - 1,711,709 - 1,711,709
- Land in Egypt - - 1,361,940 1,361,940

- 1,989,531 10,001,940 11,891,471

31 December 2017
investment property

- Buildings in Kuwait - - 9,000,000 9,000,000
- Building in UAE - 406,427 - 406,427
- Building in Bahrain - 1,702,961 - 1,702,961
- Land in Egypt - - 1,075,746 1,075,746

- 2,109,368 10,075,746 12,185,134
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23 Fair value measurement (continued)
23.3  Fair value measurement of non-financial assets (continued)

Buildings in Kuwait

The buildings in Kuwait represent buildings catergorised as “Investment Buildings”. The Group obtained
valuations from two independent valuers and the lower of the two fair values was used in arriving at the fair
value using rent capitalisation approach.

The rent capitalisation approach capitalises the monthly estimated rental income stream, net of projected
operating costs using a discount rate derived from the market yields. When actual rent differs materially from
estimated rents, adjustrnents have been made to the estimated rental value. When using the estimated rental
stream approach, adjustments to actual rental are incorporated for factors such as current occupancy levels, the
terms of in-place leases, expectations for rentals from future leases and unlicensed rented areas.

Building in UAE

The building in UAE represents four office suites “Commercial units”. The fair value provided by an
independent valuer using a market approach that reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for
similar properties without any significant adjustments being made to the market observable data.

Building in Bahrain

The building in Bahrain represents a building catergorised as “Investment Buildings”. The fair value provided
by an independent valuer using a market approach that reflects observed prices for recent market transactions
for similar properties without any significant adjustments being made to the market observable data.

Land in Egypt

The land in Egypt represents a land catergorised as “Investment land”. The fair value provided by an
independent valuer using a market approach that reflects observed prices for recent market transactions for
similar properties without any significant adjustments being made to the market observable data.

Further informaton regarding the level 3 fair value measurements is set out in the table below:

Significant Relationship of
Valuation unobservable Range of unobservable inputs to
Description technique inputs unobservable inputs fair value
Buildings in Rent capitalization Monthly economic  KD10,590 to KD18,050.  Fair value increases if
Kuwait rental value (2017: KD10,710 10 economic rental value
KD18,350) increases, and vice versa.
Yield rate 7.97% 10 B.34% (2017:  The higher the yield rate, the
7.34% to 7.86%) higher the value

Land in Egypt Market comparison Estimated market  KD5.91 (2017: KD4.65  Higher the price per square
approach price (per m?) to KD5.07) meter, higher the fair value
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23 Fair value measurement (continued)
23.3  Fair value measurement of non-financial assets (continued)

Level 3 Fair value measurements

The Group measurement of investment properties classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are
not based on observable market data. The investment properties within this level can be reconciled from
beginning to ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Opening balance 10,075,746 10,310,111
Additions 91,635 77,254
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss {163,819) (350,250}
Exchange differences recognised in other comprehensive income {1,622} 38,601
Closing balance 10,001,940 10,075,746

24 Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise, murabaha payables, bonds issued and accounts payable and
other liabiliies. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for Group’s operations. The
Group has various financial assets such as accounts receivable and other assets, cash and bank balances, short
term deposits, finance receivables and investment securities which arise directly from operations.

The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Parent Company’s Board of Directors sets out policies for reducing the risks discussed below.
The Group does not use derivative financial instruments.

The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below.

24.1  Market risk

a) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in the Middle Eastern countries and is exposed to foreign currency risk arising
from various foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to US Dollar. The Group’s balance sheet can
be significantly affected by the movement in these currencies. To mitigate the Group's exposure to foreign
currency risk, non-Kuwaiti Dinar cash flows are monitored.

Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due
within twelve months) from longer-term cash flows. Foreign currency risk is managed by the Group by
diversifying its investments geographically and monitoring the foreign currency movements and the Groups
open positions on a regular basis.

The Group’s significant net exposure to foreign currency denominated monetary assets less monetary liabilities
at the reporting date, translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at the closing rates are as follows:
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24 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

241  Market risk (continued)

a) Foreign currency risk (continued)
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
Equivalent Equivalent
KD KD
US Dollars 167,621 1,111,155

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened against the foreign currencies by 5% (2017: 5%), then this would have
the following impact on the loss for the year. There is no impact on the Group’s equity.

Loss/profit for the year
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
US Dollars (8,381} (55,558)

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had weakened against the foreign currencies by 5% (2017: 5%j), then there would be an
opposite impact on the loss for the year, and the negative balances shown above would be positive and positive
balances will be neganve.

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the
transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to be representative of the group’s exposure to the
foreign currency risk.

b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the
fair values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its short term
deposits and bonds payable which are both at fixed rate and floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the
Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate short term deposits and borrowings.

Positions are monitored regulatly to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the loss for the year to reasonable possible change of interest
rate of +1% and -1% basis points with effect from the beginning of the year. The calculation is based on the
Group’s financial instruments held at cach reporting date. All other variables are held constant. There is no
impact on Group’s equity.

Increase in interest rates Decrease in interest rates
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017 2018 2017
KD KD KD KD

Increasel/(decrease) in loss for the year 9,000 9,000 (S,000) (9,000}
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25 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
241  Market risk (continued)

c) Price risk

This is a risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether
these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all
instruments, traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its listed equity
investments, which are primarily located in Kuwait. Equity investments are classified as investments at fair
value through profit or loss.

The equity price risk sensitivity is determined on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date. If
equity prices had been 10% higher, the effect on the profit and other comprehensive income for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 would have been as follows:

A positive number below indicates a decrease in loss and increase in the other comprehensive income where
the equity prices increase by 10%. All other variables are held constant.

Othar
Loss for the year comprehensive income
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017 2018 2017
KD KD KD KD

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 96,683 77.448 - -
Available for sale invesiments - - - 20,170
96,683 77.448 - 20,170

For a 10% decrease in the equity prices, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the other
comprehensive income and the profit for the year, and balances shown above would be negative,

24.2  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. The Group secks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific
locations or business through diversification of its activities.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the
reporting date, as summarized below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Cash and cash equivalents 849,245 2,488,937
Investments at FVTPL 4,262,226 1,488,323
Accounts receivable and other assets 2,740,549 2,696,305
Investment in bonds 99,000 100,000
Financing receivables - 183,811
Available for sale investments - 4,668,087

7,951,020 11,625,463
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24 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

24.2  Credit risk (continued)

The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counter parties, identified either individually
or by Group, and incorporate this information into its credit risk controls. Where available at reasonable cost,
external credit ratings and,/ or reports on customers and other counterparties are obtained and used. The Group’s
policy is to deal only with credirworthy counterparties. The Group’s management considers that all the above
financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired for each of the reporting dates under review are of good

credit quality.

None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

The credit risk for cash and bank balances and short term deposits is considered negligible, since the counterparties
are reputable financial insttutions with high credit quality. Information on other significant concentrations of

credit ask 1s set out in note 24.3

24.3  Concentration of assets

The distribution of financial assets and financial liabilities by geographic region for 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

Asia &
Kuwait GCC Africa Europe USA Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
At 31 December 2018
Cash and cash equivalenis 692,956 138,385 15,274 2,620 - 849,245
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss 2,950,103 170,188 330,703 - 811,232 4,262,226
Accounts receivable and other
assets 841,496 1,781,634 - 117,419 - 2,740,549
Investment in bonds 99,000 - - - - 99,000
4,583,555 2,090,217 345,977 420,039 811,232 7,951,020
Accounts payable and other
liabilities 3,848,449 2,672,130 - - - 6,520,579
Murabaha payables 3,118,103 . - - - 3,118,103
Bonds 900,000 - - - - 900,000
7,866,552 2,672,130 - - - 10,538,682
At 31 December 2017
Cash and cash equivalents 2,310,956 140,679 36.321 981 - 2,488,937
Investments at fair value
through profit or loss 1,338.635 149,688 . - - 1,488323
Accounts receivable and other
assets 808,486 1,770,679 - 117,140 - 2,696,305
Available for sale investmentis 3,058,305 455,000 779,073 13,107 362,602 4,668,087
Investment in bonds 100,000 - - - - 100,000
Financing receivables 183,811 - - - - 183,811
7.800,193 2,516,046 815,394 131,228 362,602 11,625463
Accounts payable and other
liabilities 4817573 4,190,001 - - - 9,007,574
Murabaha payables 3,202 976 - - - - 3,202,976
Bonds 900,000 - - - - 900,000

8,920,549 4,180,001 - 5 -

13,110,550
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24 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

244  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this
risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors
liquidity on a regular basis.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabiliies. Except for investments
carried at fair value through profit or loss, investment in associates, available for sale investments and investment
properties, the maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period from
the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The matunity profile for investments carried at fair value
through profit or loss, investment in associates, available for sale investments and investment properties is
determined based on management’s estimate of liquidation of those investments.

Maturity profile of all assets and liabilities at 31 December 2018 and 2017:

15
1 year years Total
KD KD KD

At 31 December 2018
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 848,245 - 849,245
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 4,262,226 - 4,262,226
Accounts receivable and other assets 3,718,794 - 3,718,794
Investment in bonds - 99,000 99,000
Investment in associates - 3,482,172 3,482,172
Investment properties - 11,991,471 11,991,471
Property and equipment - 50,315 50,315

8,830,265 15,622,958 24,453,223

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other liabilities 6,520,579 - 6,520,579
Murabaha payables 3,118,103 . 3,118,103
Bonds 900,000 - 900,000
Employees' end of service indemnity - 451,101 451,101
10,538,682 451,101 10,989,783
At 31 December 2017
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 2,488,937 - 2,488,937
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,488,323 - 1,488,323
Accounts receivable and other asseis 3,874,517 - 3,874,517
investment in bonds - 100,000 100,000
Available for sale investments - 4,668,087 4,668,087
Investment in associates - 4,948,756 4,948,756
Investment properties - 12,185,134 12,185,134
Financing receivables 82,789 101,022 183,811
Property and equipment - 97,037 97,037

7,934,566 22,100,036 30,034,602

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and other liabilities 9,007,574 - 8,007,574
Murabaha payables 415,829 2,787,147 3,202,976
Bonds - 900,000 900,000
Employees’ end of service indemnity - 408,038 408,038

9,423,403 4,095,185 13,518,588
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244  Liquidity risk (continued)

The contractual maturity of financial liabilites based on undiscounted cash flows are as follows:

On
demand
fup to 1 1-3 3-12 Over
month months months 1 year Total
KD KD KD KD KD
31 December 2018
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 78,507 6,442,072 - 6,520,579
Murabaha payables - 3,118,103 - 3,118,103
Bonds - 900,000 - 800,000
78,507 10,460,175 - 10,538,682
31 December 2017
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 68,899 8,938,675 - 9,007,574
Murabaha payables - 415,829 2,787,147 3,202,976
Bonds - - 900,000 900,000
68,899 9,354,504 3,687,147 13,110,550

25 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in otder to provide returns for sharcholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the costs of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, buy back shares, issue new shares or sell assets to

reduce debt.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year as compared to the
previous year. The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD
Murabaha payables 3,118,103 3,202,976
Bonds 900,000 900,000
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (849,245) (2,488,937)
Net debt 3,168,858 1,614,039
Total equity 13,463,440 16,516,014
Total Capital 16,632,298 18,130,053
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25 Capital risk management (continued)

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio.
The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position plus net debt.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2018 2017
KD KD
Net debt 3,168,858 1,614,039
Total capital 16,632,258 18,130,053
Gearing ratio 19.05% 8.90%

26 Assets under management

The Group manages mutual funds, portfolios on behalf of its major shareholders, other related parties and
third parties, and maintains securities in fiduciary accounts which are not reflected in the Group's statement of
financial position. Assets under management at 31 December 2018 amounted to KID16,143,827 (31 December
2017: KD47,934,791).

During the year total fees eamed by the Group from assets under management amounted to KD135,821 (2017:
KD78,213).

27 General assembly of shareholders and dividend

The Parent Company’s Board of Directors proposed not to distribute any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2018. This proposal is subject to the approval of the general assembly of the shareholders. No
dividends were distributed for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 were authorised for
issuance by the Parent Company’s Board of Directors on 20 March 2018 and approved by the shareholders at
the Annual General Meeting held on 4 June 2018.

28 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. Such reclassification did not affect previously reported total assets and equity or net results
for the year reported.

29 Subsequent event

Subsequent to the reporting period, one of the Group’s subsidiaries “Al-Mal Qataria Holding Company” signed
an agreement with “Kuwait European Holding Company™ to exchange its equity stake in its subsidiary “First
Al-Mal Real Estate Company” for a 40% equity stake in “Aramila Capital Company”, a company located in the
United Kingdom. The investment in Aramila will be accounted for as an investment in associate Further, as a
result of the alone disposal of First Al-Mal Real Estate, the Group’s ownership in “Diyar Al-Kuwait Real Estate
Company”, a partially owned subsidiary, will be diluted from 60.25% to 40.25%, and accordingly, will be
accounted for as an investment in associate. These transactions will be reflected in the condensed consolidated
financial information of the Group for the three-month period ending 31 March 2019,



